
 

 
 

   

 
  

  
 

  
 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
   

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
Washington, DC 20463 

June 17, 2021 

VIA EMAIL: reiff@sandlerreiff.com 
Neil P. Reiff 
Sandler Reiff PC 
1090 Vermont Ave. NW 
Suite 750  
Washington, DC 20005 

RE: MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party and Rick
  McGuire in his official capacity as 
treasurer 

Dear Mr Reiff: 

On October 24, 2018, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients, Arizona 
Democratic Party and Rick McGuire in this official capacity as treasurer, of a complaint alleging 
violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.  On 
June 10, 2021, the Commission found, on the basis of the information in the complaint and 
information provided by you, that there is no reason to believe your clients violated 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2).  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this 
matter. 

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.   See 
Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 
(Aug. 2, 2016).  The Factual and Legal Analysis, which explains the Commission’s findings, is 
enclosed for your information. 

If you have any questions, please contact Amanda Andrade, the attorney assigned to this 
matter, at (202) 694-1650. 

Jin Lee 
Acting Assistant General Counsel 

Sincerely, 

Enclosure 
Factual and Legal Analysis 
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1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
2 
3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 
4 
5 
6 
7 RESPONDENTS:    Arizona Democratic Party and  MUR 7519 
8 Rick McGuire in his 
9 official capacity as treasurer, 

10 Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary 
11 of State and Martin Quezada 
12 in his official capacity 
13 as treasurer, and 
14 Katie Hobbs 
15 
16 
17 I. INTRODUCTION 

18 The Complaint in this matter alleges that the Arizona Democratic Party (“ADP”) spent 

19 over $1.8 million in non-federal funds on federal election activity because an advertisement for a 

20 state-level candidate, Katie Hobbs, purportedly promoted and supported Kyrsten Sinema, who 

21 was a candidate for U.S. Senate in 2018.  In the alternative, the Complaint argues that ADP 

22 should have allocated the cost between the federal and non-federal portions of the advertisement.   

23 Respondents deny that there was any violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act, as 

24 amended (the “Act”).  They contend that while the advertisement may clearly identify a federal 

25 candidate, it does not promote, support, attack, or oppose that candidate.  They also argue that 

26 they were under no legal obligation to allocate the cost of the advertisement. 

27 The advertisement makes no more than a passing mention of Sinema and could not 

28 reasonably be construed as promoting, attacking, supporting, or opposing her candidacy.  As a 

29 result, there was no legal obligation for ADP to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  

30 Therefore, as set forth below, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 52 

31 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds to promote or 

32 support Sinema, or 11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  The 
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MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 Commission also finds no reason to believe that, by authorizing ADP’s advertisement on her 

2 behalf, Katie Hobbs or her authorized committee, Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State, 

3 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non-federal funds to 

4 promote or support Sinema. 

5 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

6 ADP is registered with the Commission as the official Arizona state party committee for 

7 the Democratic National Committee.1 Hobbs was the Democratic nominee for Arizona 

8 Secretary of State in 2018, running against Republican Steve Gaynor.  Sinema was the 

9 Democratic nominee for U.S. Senate from Arizona in the 2018 general election.  Her opponent 

10 was Republican nominee Martha McSally. 

11 The complaint alleges that beginning around October 3, 2018, ADP disbursed at least 

12 $1,833,355 for a television advertisement in support of and authorized by Hobbs.  According to 

13 the Complaint, these disbursements violated the Act because ADP used non-federal funds to 

14 promote, attack, support, or oppose a federal candidate — specifically, the Complaint alleges 

15 that the advertisement promoted and supported Sinema’s federal candidacy.2 

16 ADP’s Response does not dispute the Complaint’s allegations regarding the amount spent 

17 on the ad or the timing of its dissemination, but claims that the advertisement does not promote 

18 or support Sinema’s candidacy.3 ADP’s Response also includes a declaration from an individual 

19 at a political media production firm stating that he drafted the advertisement’s script and that it 

1 See FEC Form 1, ADP Amended Statement of Organization (May 20, 2019). 

2 Compl. at 1-2 (Oct. 18, 2018). 

3 Resp. of ADP at 2 (Dec. 14, 2018). 

Page 2 of 9 

MUR751900062



  
     

    
 

 
   

    

  

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 

 

  
 
 

 
 

 

                                                 
        

           

0 
0 

MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 was not intended to promote or support Sinema.4 The Response from Hobbs and her committee 

2 likewise denies that the advertisement in any way promoted or supported Sinema, and provides a 

3 link to the entire advertisement at issue.5  The images and dialogue from the advertisement are 

4 replicated below. 

Man in Voting Booth:  So who can I 
trust for Secretary of State? 
[3 seconds] 

Man in Voting Booth: The CEO or 
the social worker? 
[3 seconds] 

Female Voice-Over: In the state 
senate, Katie Hobbs has led the fight 
for better teacher pay, helping resolve 
the strike this year and keep Arizona 
from losing good teachers to 
neighboring states. 
[8 seconds] 

4 Resp. of ADP, Attach. ¶¶ 2-3, 8. 

5 Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al., at 1-2 (Nov. 14, 2018). 
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MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

Male Voice-Over:  In the corporate 
world, Steve Gaynor got rich by 
cheating his employees out of 
overtime pay, and his company was 
forced to pay tens of thousands of 
dollars to workers in a settlement. 
[10 seconds] 

Man in Voting Booth:  So, the savvy 
senator or the shady CEO? 
[3 seconds] 

Man in Voting Booth: That’s a no-
brainer. 
[3 seconds] 

1 The response from ADP argues that this “30-second television advertisement clearly advocates 

2 for the election of Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State of Arizona with no support or promotion of 

3 any federal candidate” despite the “mockup ballot [that] appears for approximately six 

4 seconds . . . and focuses on an individual choosing which bubble to fill in between two Secretary 

5 of State candidates.”6 The response from Hobbs and her committee argues that “at most” the 

6 Resp. of ADP at 2. 

Page 4 of 9 

MUR751900064



  
     

    
 

 
   

 

 

  

   
 

  

 

   

   

   

   

  

  

   

  

  

 

                                                 
          

           
              

     

            

       

MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 advertisement refers to the federal candidates for U.S. Senate but “does nothing to promote, 

2 support, attack, or oppose either federal candidate.”7 

3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 

4 A. ADP’s Advertisement Does Not Appear to Constitute Federal Election 
5 Activity 

6 The Act prohibits a state committee, candidate for state office, or the agent of a state 

7 candidate from spending funds on public communications that refer to a clearly identified 

8 candidate for federal office and that promote, attack, support, or oppose (“PASO”) a candidate 

9 for that office, unless the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting 

10 requirements of the Act.8 The Act and Commission regulations specify that a communication 

11 may PASO a candidate regardless of whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for 

12 or against a candidate,9 but do not otherwise define the terms “promote,” “support,” “attack,” or 

13 “oppose.”  The Supreme Court has stated that the use of those words in section 30101(20)(A)(iii) 

14 of the Act does not render the provision unconstitutionally vague, because they “clearly set forth 

15 the confines within which potential party speakers must act in order to avoid triggering the 

16 provision,” and they “provide explicit standards for those who apply them and give the person of 

17 ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited.”10 

18 The Commission has made clear on numerous occasions that mere identification of an 

19 individual as a federal candidate in a public communication — such as when a federal candidate 

7 Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al. at 2. 

8 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b), (f), cross-referencing id. § 30101(20)(A)(iii) (including PASO communications in 
the definition of “federal election activity”); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.24(b)(3), 300.71 (requiring that federal funds 
be used for PASO communications). ] 

9 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii); 11 C.F.R. § 100.24(b)(3). 

10 McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 170 n.64 (2003). 
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MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 endorses a state candidate — does not, by itself, PASO the federal candidate.11 Similarly, in 

2 MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana), the Commission dismissed the allegation that a state 

3 gubernatorial candidate used non-federal funds to pay for an advertisement that purportedly 

4 opposed a federal candidate.12  There, the Commission found that, although the advertisement 

5 included statements made by the federal candidate, the advertisement focused on the state 

6 gubernatorial election and offered no commentary regarding the federal candidacy.13 

7 By contrast, the Commission found that a communication was federal election activity 

8 that did PASO a federal candidate in a matter in which a page in a local party committee’s flyer 

9 said “How Do I Vote a Straight Democratic Ticket?” accompanied by President Obama’s 

10 campaign logo, as well as a page that concluded with “The Left is Right — Vote Blue” next to 

11 the Obama-Biden 2012 campaign logo.14  In MUR 6019 (Dominic Caserta for Assembly), the 

12 Commission found that a local candidate’s statement that “we have two outstanding Democratic 

13 candidates running for President,” along with references to “Barack Obama for President” and 

14 “Hillary Clinton for President” arguably promoted Obama and Clinton as presidential 

15 candidates.15  The Commission distinguished that case from past Advisory Opinions dealing 

16 with mere identification of a federal candidate by noting that those opinions “did not address the 

11 See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2009-26 (Coulson) at 7 (collecting opinions); Advisory Op. 2003-25 (Weinzapfel) 
(determining that a communication in which a federal candidate endorsed a state candidate did not PASO that 
federal candidate). 

12 Factual & Legal Analysis at 6, MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana). 

13 Id. 

14 Factual & Legal Analysis at 7-10, MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party) (ultimately finding no 
reason to believe the committee violated the Act because its disbursements for the federal election activity appeared 
to have been made with funds subject to the limitations and prohibitions of the Act). 

15 Factual & Legal Analysis at 4, MUR 6019 (Dominic Caserta for Assembly). 
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MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 specific reference to the federal candidacy (‘for President’) and the statement of support that we 

2 have in this case.”16 

3 Here, the Complaint argues that the text “For U.S. Senate Vote for ONE” followed by 

4 Sinema’s name “likely constitutes express advocacy of her candidacy” or at the very least 

5 promotes or supports her candidacy because it evokes Sinema in her capacity as a federal 

6 candidate and advocates for her election.17  Although the advertisement references Sinema as a 

7 candidate, it does not contain the “statement of support” the Commission highlighted in MUR 

8 6019, above.  Because the bubble next to Sinema’s name remains unfilled throughout the 

9 advertisement, it is not clear whether the depicted voter intends to vote for Sinema or McSally, 

10 or even vote in the federal race at all. Nor does the communication include an image of 

11 Sinema’s campaign materials or a statement of support for the Democratic Party generally.18 

12 Instead, the focus of the advertisement is on Hobbs, whose party affiliation is never mentioned, 

13 and her opponent in the Secretary of State race. No one in the advertisement utters Sinema’s 

14 name.19 Although the advertisement identifies Sinema in her capacity as a federal candidate, a 

15 viewer may not have even noticed Sinema’s name due to its lack of prominence on the screen, its 

16 slightly blurred nature, and the short amount of time it flashed on the screen. Thus, it is 

17 reasonable to conclude that the advertisement does not promote or support her candidacy.  

18 Accordingly, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 52 U.S.C. 

19 § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds for federal election 

16 Id. at 4-5 (citing Advisory Op. 2007-34 (Jackson, Jr.), 2007-21 (Holt), and 2003-25 (Weinzapfel)). 

17 Compl. at 2-3 (“Sinema is invoked not as an endorser or supporter of Hobbs, but rather appears as a federal 
candidate qua federal candidate.”). 

18 Compare Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 6683. 

19 The mockup ballot in the advertisement misspells Sinema’s first name as “Krysten” rather than Kyrsten. 
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MUR 7519 
Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 activity, and no reason to believe that Katie Hobbs and Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State 

2 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non-federal funds in that 

3 manner. 

4 B. ADP Was Not Required to Allocate Expenses for the Advertisement 

5 The Complaint also argues that even if the advertisement does not PASO Sinema, ADP 

6 was nonetheless required to allocate a portion of the cost to its federal account.20  Under 

7 Commission regulations, state parties such as ADP “that make expenditures and disbursements 

8 in connection with both Federal and non-Federal elections for activities that are not Federal 

9 election activities . . . may use only funds subject to the prohibitions and limitations of the Act, 

10 or they may allocate such expenditures and disbursements between their Federal and their non-

11 Federal accounts.”21  However, the Commission’s regulations on allocation are clear that only 

12 certain expenses may be allocated:  administrative expenses, exempt party activities that are not 

13 federal election activities, fundraising expenses, and voter drive activities that are neither federal 

14 election activities nor party exempt activities.22 

15 The Complaint does not allege any such allocable activities. Rather, it alleges that ADP 

16 made, and Hobbs and her committee approved, a public communication that clearly identified 

17 and supported a federal candidate.  But if that were true, the advertisement would constitute 

18 federal election activity, and would need to have been paid for entirely by funds subject to the 

19 limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of the Act.23 

20 Compl. at 4. 

21 11 C.F.R. § 106.7(b). 

22 See id. 

23 See 11 C.F.R. § 300.33(c). 
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Arizona Democratic Party, et al. 
Factual and Legal Analysis 

1 As discussed above, however, the advertisement does not constitute federal election 

2 activity.  The Complaint has not otherwise alleged facts demonstrating that ADP made any 

3 expenditures or disbursements in connection with a federal election that would need to be 

4 allocated, and Commission regulations explicitly permit state parties to use non-federal funds for 

5 non-Federal activity.24  Therefore, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 

6 11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  

See id. § 300.32(d). 
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	OFFIC'E OF GENERAL COUNSEL 
	October 12, 2018 
	Figure
	Federal Election Commission 
	1050 First Street, NE Washington, D.C. 20463 
	Figure
	Re: Complaint Against the Arizona Democratic Party (C00166710); Rick McGuire, in his capacity as Treasurer of the Arizona Democratic Party; and Katie Hobbs, a non-federal candidate 
	To Whom It May Concern: 
	I write to call your attention to apparent violations of federal campaign finance laws by the Arizona Democratic Party ("ADP"), which has spent over $1.8 million of prohibited soft money for public communications in connection with a federal election, in direct contravention of the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of2002 ("BCRA") and the Commission's implementing regulations. 
	FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	ADP is a political party committee registered with the Commission; it also maintains a non-federal account that is governed by Arizona law and that reports its financial activities to the Arizona Secretary of State. Arizona law permits political parties to accept contributions from nearly any source-to include individuals, corporations, limited liability companies, and labor unions-in unlimited amounts. See Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 16-912(B), -914(D), -916(B). While political parties may not "contribute" corpora
	Upon information and belief, on or around October 3, 2018 the ADP disbursed at least $1,833,355 for an advertisement disseminated through broadcast television advocating the election of Katie Hobbs, the Democratic nominee for Arizona Secretary ofState. The disclaimer accompanying the ad indicates that it was approved by (i.e., coordinated with) Hobbs. The final seconds of the advertisement feature a video image ofan individual marking Hobbs' name on a faux baUot. Prominently visible on the screen is a secti
	1 

	Upon information and belief, the ADP paid the full cost of the advertisement from its non-federal account, which consists entirely or substantially of funds that do not comply with federal source and amount restrictions. 
	Ascreenshot ofthe relevant video frame ofthe advertisement is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
	VIOLATIONS OF BCRA'S "SOFT MONEY" RESTRICTIONS 
	VIOLATIONS OF BCRA'S "SOFT MONEY" RESTRICTIONS 
	Because the ADP's advertisement supported and promoted Sinema's candidacy, it constituted "federal election activity" that the ADP was required to finance exclusively with federally compliant funds. As a candidate for state office, Hobbs is likewise prohibited from authorizing or directing the use of nonfederal funds for any public communication that promotes, attacks, supports, or opposes ("PASO") a federal candidate. Further, even if the advertisement did not PASO Sinema, its reference to her as a clearl
	I. The ADP and Hobbs lmpermissibly Used Soft Money to Finance Federal Election Activity 
	In general, any "amount that is expended or disbursed for Federal election activity by a State, district, or local committee ofa political party ... shall be made from funds subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of' the Federal Elections Campaign Act of 1974. 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(l); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ 300.32(a)(2). "Federal election activity" ("FEA") encompasses any "public communication that refers to a clearly identified candidate for Federal office (regardless of whethe
	2 

	A. The ADP's Advertisement Promoted and Supported Sinema 
	The advertisement's depiction of Sinema's name, accompanied by a notation "for U.S. Senate" promotes and supports-ifnot expressly advocates-Sinema's federal candidacy. To be sure, the mere identification of an individual who happens to be a federal candidate does not necessarily render the communication FEA. Indeed, in a series ofadvisory opinions, the Commission has forged what may be characterized as a quasi-safe harbor for communications that reference federal candidates solely for the purpose of conveyi
	-

	An advertisement disseminated through broadcast television or through cable or satellite transmission is a "public communication." 11 C.F.R. § I00.26. 
	2 
	ADP's advertisement falls well outside the ambit of non-PASO communications delineated in these advisory opinions. To the contrary, Sinema is invoked not as an endorser or supporter of Hobbs, but rather appears as a federal candidate qua federal candidate. In an analogous context, the Commission found that a mailer referencing Barack Obama's and Hillary Clinton's presidential candidacies likely 
	satisfied the PASO standard, even though Obama and Clinton were invoked in the context of promoting a candidate for state office. See MUR 6019 (In re Dominic Caserta for Assembly Committee, et al.), Factual & Legal Analysis at 5-6. As the Commission reasoned, "[s]ignificantly, those AOs [involving endorsements by federal candidates] addressed the use of federal candidate's name and likeness and did not address the specific reference to the federal candidacy ('for President') and [a] statement of suppo11." I
	3 

	The ad's allusion to Sinema-however fleeting-was unambiguously electoral in character. Sinema's name was introduced not as an ancillary incident to the advocacy of Hobbs' candidacy; she was explicitly identified as a candidate for the office of U.S. Senate whom viewers should support. In context, the image ofSinema's name juxtaposed with the phrase "For U.S. Senate, Vote for ONE" likely constitutes express advocacy of her candidacy-and at the very least is within the undisputedly broader rubric of communica
	That the advertisement's promotion of Sinema's candidacy was brief (in both absolute and relative terms) does not detract from its character as FEA. In promulgating the controlling regulations, the Commission notably declined to devise any exemption from federal financing strictures for activities entailing only a nominal nexus to a federal election. See generally Explanation & Justification, supra, 67 Fed. Reg. at 49068 (rejecting proposed "de minimis exception" to the FEA designation for get-outthe-vote 
	3 
	3 


	B. Hobbs May Not Authorize or Direct the Expenditure of Soft Money for FEA 
	B. Hobbs May Not Authorize or Direct the Expenditure of Soft Money for FEA 
	Although a candidate for non-federal office, Hobbs likewise is enjoined by BCRA from spending any funds for a public communication that promotes, attacks, supports, or opposes a federal candidate, 
	Citing the small amount of the relevant disbursement (approximately $4,300), the Commission dismissed the matter in the exercise of its prosecutorial discretion. The soft money expenditure by ADP in this matter, by contrast, is more than 418 times greater than the sum at issue in MUR 6019. 
	"unless the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of'' federal law. 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(l). This restriction applies "regardless of whether a candidate for State or local office is also mentioned or identified," 11 C.F.R. § 300.71, and also binds "an agent acting on behalf of any such candidate or individual," id § 300.70.Although the monies used to sponsor the television ad originated from ADP's non-federal account, they were disbursed-as the disclaimer discloses-a
	4 

	II. Even if the Ad is Not FEA, ADP Was Required to Allocate a Portion of the Cost to Its Federal Account 
	Even if the Commission concludes that the advertisement's conspicuous depiction of Sinema' s name on an ersatz "ballot" did not promote or support her U.S. Senate candidacy, the ad's unmistakable reference to a clearly identified federal candidate (i.e., Sinema) obligated ADP to apportion the cost between its federal and non-federal accounts. Among the "general principles" animating BCRA is the precept that "State, district, and local party committees that make expenditures and disbursements for activities 
	To this end, Commission regulations provide that "State, district, and local party committees that make expenditures and disbursements in connection with both Federal and non-Federal elections for activities that are not Federal election activities pursuant to 11 CFR § 100.24 may use only funds subject to the prohibitions and limitations of the Act, or they may allocate such expenditures and disbursements · between their Federal and their non-Federal accounts." 11 C.F.R. § 106.7(b); see also id § 104.17(a) 
	In drawing exclusively on non-federal fonds to underwrite the full cost of a public communication that explicitly references a clearly identified federal candidate, ADP stands in contravention of BCRA's allocation mandates. 
	*** 
	For the foregoing reasons, there is reason to believe that (1) ADP unlawfully financed federal election activity with "soft money" funds in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(l), or, alternatively, failed to properly allocate costs that were in connection with both a federal election and a non-federal election; 
	An agent, in this context, is "any person who has actual authority, either express or implied," "to spend funds for a public communication" on behalfofa state candidate. 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(b)(3). 
	4 
	and (2) Hobbs and/or her state campaign committee improperly authorized or directed such disbursements in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(l). I respectfully request that the Commission initiate an investigation and assess all appropriate civil penalties. I know the allegations of this Complaint to be true, except the matters stated therein on information and belief, which I believe to be true. 
	Signed under penalty ofperjury this 13day ofOctober, 2018. 
	th 

	Anthony Kem 
	Glendale, Arizona 85304 Subscribed and sworn to before me this 13day ofOctober, 2018. 
	th 
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	JOSHUA J. DESIMONE Notary Publlc • Arlrone Maricopa Coonty My .Comm. bpirtt Apt 27, 2020
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	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Rick McGuire, Treasurer 
	Rick McGuire, Treasurer 
	Rick McGuire, Treasurer 
	OCT 2~ 2018 

	Arizona Democratic Party 
	Arizona Democratic Party 

	2910 N Central A venue 
	2910 N Central A venue 

	Phoenix, AZ 85012 
	Phoenix, AZ 85012 

	TR
	RE: MUR 7519 

	Dear Mr. McGuire: 
	Dear Mr. McGuire: 


	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates Arizona Democratic Party and you in your official capacity as treasurer may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7519. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against Arizona Democratic Party and you in your official capacity as treasurer in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration ofthis matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Offi
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies.
	1 

	Ifyou intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number of such counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report infonnation regarding violations oflaw not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id.§ 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, ifsubmitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email cela@fec.gov 


	If you have any questions, please contact Kathryn Ross at (202) 694-1539 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Figure
	Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Martin Quezada, Treasurer 
	Martin Quezada, Treasurer 
	Martin Quezada, Treasurer 

	Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary ofState 
	Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary ofState 
	OCT 2~ 2018 

	530 E. McDowell Road, Apt. 107-407 
	530 E. McDowell Road, Apt. 107-407 

	Phoenix, AZ 85004 
	Phoenix, AZ 85004 

	TR
	RE: MUR 7519 

	Dear Mr. Quezada: 
	Dear Mr. Quezada: 


	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary ofState and you in your official capacity as treasurer may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7519. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary ofState and you in your official capacity as treasurer in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration ofthis matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	1 

	Ifyou intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number ofsuch counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this 
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations oflaw not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal I 050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal I 050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email cela@fec.gov 


	If you have any questions, please contact Kathryn Ross at (202) 694-1539 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a briefdescription of the Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Figure
	Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Katie Hobbs 
	Katie Hobbs 
	Katie Hobbs 
	OCT 2~ 2018 

	Phoenix, AZ 85006 
	Phoenix, AZ 85006 

	TR
	RE: MUR 7519 

	Dear Ms. Hobbs: 
	Dear Ms. Hobbs: 


	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates you may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7 519. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against you in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration of this matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Office, must be submitted within 15 days ofreceipt ofthis letter. If no
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	1 

	Ifyou intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number ofsuch counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and materials relating to the subject matter of the complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations oflaw not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail 
	Mail 
	OR 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	cela@fec.gov 


	If you have any questions, please contact Kathryn Ross at (202) 694-1539 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	~p
	J rdan 
	4s. 

	Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
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	Digitally signedby Kathryn RossDate: 2018.11.0708:14:22 -05'00' 
	From: To: Subject: MUR 7519 Date: Tuesday, November 06, 2018 4:11:32 PMAttachments: 
	Neil P. Reiff 
	CELA 
	Designation of Counsel.pdf

	Attached please find a designation of counsel for MUR 7519 for the Arizona Democratic Party andRick McGuire as Treasurer. By this email we respectfully request an extension of time to respond tothis compliant for up to 30 days. If granted, our response will be filed no later than December 13,2018. 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	STATE\ilE'.\'T OF DESIG:\'ATIO~ OF c or~SEL 
	f>ro\·idc one form tor t:a.:h R~-sr nnd.:111 \\'i111es~ E:\IAII. · FAX 202-219-3923 
	cela1u:fec.gm

	E-mail: 
	The above-named individual and/or firm is hereby designated as m:: >unsd and is authorized to receive an: notifo:ations and Nhcr communications fr the Commission and act on m~ bd1alfbeforc the Commission. 
	Figure
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	November 7, 2018 
	VIA E-MAIL 
	VIA E-MAIL 
	Neil P. Reiff, Esq. Sandler, Reiff, Lamb, Rosenstein & Birkenstock, P.C. 1025 Vermont Street, NW, Suite 750 Washington, DC 20005 
	RE: MUR 7519 Arizona State Democratic Central Executive Committee, and Rick McGuire, Treasurer 
	Dear Mr. Reiff: 
	This is in response to your request for an extension to respond to the complaint filed in the above mentioned matter we received via e-mail on November 6, 2018. After considering the circumstances in this matter, the Office of General Counsel has granted the requested extension.  Accordingly, your clients’ responses are due on or before the close of business December 13, 2018. You may contact me if you have any questions at 
	202-694-1539 or by e-mail at cela@fec.gov. 

	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Kathryn Ross, Paralegal Complaints Examination and Legal Administration 
	Digitally signed by Kathryn Ross Date: 2018.11.14 13:46:44 -05'00' 
	Figure
	Roy Herrera Tel: 602.798.5430 Fax: 602.798.5595 
	herrerar@ballardspahr.com 

	November 13, 2018 
	Via E-mail () 
	cela@fec.gov

	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Kathryn Ross, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Re: 
	MUR 7519 

	Dear Ms. Ross: 
	This firm represents Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State, an Arizona state candidate committee.  I write in response to the October 12, 2018 complaint lodged byAnthony Kern, which my client received on October 29, 2018.  We appreciate this opportunity to respond to Mr. Kern’s complaint. 
	The Advertisement 
	The Advertisement 
	The advertisement at issue is a 30-second television advertisement wherein a voter is deciding who to vote for in the Arizona Secretary of State race.  For an approximate total of five seconds over the course of the 30-second advertisement, the voter’s pen hovers over the portion of the ballot for Arizona Secretary of State as he decides for whom to vote.  After hearing positive information about Katie Hobbs and negative information about Steve Gaynor, the voter fills in the bubble for Katie Hobbs. 
	1

	As the voter decides for whom the vote in the Arizona Secretary of State race, the section of the ballot for U.S. Senator is partially visible, showing the names of federal candidates Martha McSally and Kyrsten Sinema.  The bubbles next to the federal candidates are not filled in, and the screen centers on the Arizona Secretary of State selection. 
	 The video is available at: 
	1
	https://www.dropbox.com/s/ry7lgp0zhp8gpfw/iVote_TwoWays_V008.mp4?dl=0 

	Federal Election Commission November 13, 2018 Page 2 
	The disclosure at the end of the advertisement indicates that it was paid for by the Arizona Democratic Party and authorized by Katie Hobbs. 

	The Advertisement Does Not Promote, Attack, Support, or Oppose a Federal Candidate 
	The Advertisement Does Not Promote, Attack, Support, or Oppose a Federal Candidate 
	Federal law requires that a state political party’s expenditures or disbursements for “Federal election activity” be made “from funds subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements of this Act.”  52 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1).  “Federal election activity” is defined, in relevant part, as 
	A public communication that refers to a clearly identified candidate for 
	Federal office (regardless of whether a candidate for State or local office is 
	also mentioned or identified) and that promotes or supports a candidate for 
	that office, or attacks or opposes a candidate for that office (regardless of 
	whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for or against a 
	candidate) 
	52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii) (emphasis added). 
	The Commission has made clear and reiterated, in numerous advisory opinions, that “[u]nder the plain language of the FECA, the mere identification of an individual who is a Federal candidate does not automatically promote, support, attack, or oppose that candidate.”Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel); see also Advisory Opinions 2007-34 (Jackson); 2007-21 (Holt), 2006-10 (Echostar). 
	The reason is plain under ordinary principles of statutory construction.  In order to constitute federal election activity, the statute requires that the communication both refer to a clearly identified candidate for federal office and that it promote, support, attack, or opposethat candidate. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii).  When Congress uses two distinct terms, weassume it did so “because it intended each term to have a particular, nonsuperfluous meaning.” See Bailey v. United States, 516 U.S. 137, 146, 1
	The communication here at most refers to a clearly identified federal candidate byincidentally making visible the candidates for U.S. Senator.  It does nothing to promote, support, attack, or oppose either federal candidate.  It had to do both in order to constitute federal election activity. 
	The examples cited by the complaint are inapposite. The communication at issue MUR 6019 stated that “we have two outstanding Democratic candidates running for President” and made repeated references to “Barack Obama for President.”  MUR 6019 (In re Dominic Caserta for Assembly Committee, et al.), Factual & Legal Analysis at 4.  And the communication in MUR 6683 expressly told voters to re-elect a federal candidate, told voters how to “vote a straight Democratic ticket” accompanied by the Obama campaign’s 
	The examples cited by the complaint are inapposite. The communication at issue MUR 6019 stated that “we have two outstanding Democratic candidates running for President” and made repeated references to “Barack Obama for President.”  MUR 6019 (In re Dominic Caserta for Assembly Committee, et al.), Factual & Legal Analysis at 4.  And the communication in MUR 6683 expressly told voters to re-elect a federal candidate, told voters how to “vote a straight Democratic ticket” accompanied by the Obama campaign’s 
	Federal Election Commission November 13, 2018 Page 3 

	logo, and concluded with a message that “the left is right – vote Blue” next to an Obama-Biden 2012 campaign logo.  MUR 6683 (In re Fort Bend County Democratic Party, et al.), Factual & Legal Analysis at 7. 
	Plainly, such facts are absent here.  No part of the advertisement encourages(expressly or otherwise) a vote for or against any federal candidate.  The bubble for the federal U.S. Senate candidates on the ballot are left blank.  And when viewed in context of the information the voter in the video considers about Katie Hobbs and Steve Gaynor, it is apparent that the voter’s decision (and the focus of the video) centers on the race for Arizona Secretary of State.  No mention is made of the federal candidates.
	The words “promote,” “oppose,” attack,” and “support” are clear, and they “provide explicit standards for those who apply them’ and ‘give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited.’”  McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 170 
	n.64 (2003) (quoting Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108–09 (1972)). It is readily apparent from a simple viewing of the advertisement (even if just the single screenshot) that the advertisement in no way promotes, opposes, attacks, or supports anyfederal candidate.  The complaint is meritless. 
	Very truly yours, 
	/s/ Roy Herrera 
	Roy Herrera 
	RH/cr 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Washington, DC 20463 

	Statement of Designation ofCounsel 
	Statement of Designation ofCounsel 
	Provide one form for each Respondent/Witness Nott: You May E-Mail Form to: CASE: MUR 7519 Name of Counsel: Roy Herrera and Daniel Arellano Firm: Ballard Spahr LLP Address: 1 East Wasihngton Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85004 
	CELA@fec.gov 

	Telephone: ( 602 ) 798-5430 Fax: ( 602 ) 798-5595 
	The above named individual and/or firm is hereby designated as my counsel and is authorized to receive any no · ti d other communications from the Commission and to act on my behalf befor ion. 
	Figure

	11/13/2018 Treasurer 
	Date Title RESPONDENT: Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State 
	(Committee Name/Company Name/lndivi~ual Named In Notification Letter} 
	MAILING ADDRESS: 
	MAILING ADDRESS: 
	530 E. McDowell Road , Apt. 107-407, Phoenix, Arizona 85004 
	Telepbone:(H): 
	Telepbone:(H): 
	Figure
	This form relates to a Federal Election Commission matter that is subject to the confidentiality provisions of 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(l2)(A). This section prohibits making public any notification or investigation conducted by the Federal Election Commission without the express written consent of the person receiving the notification or the person with respect to whom the investigation is made. 
	Digitally signed by Kathryn Ross 
	09:09:26 -05'00' 
	~,.a-ir--A--
	Date: 2018.11.26 

	From: 
	ArellanoD@ballardspahr.com 

	To: CELA 
	Subject: RE: MUR 7519 
	Date: Saturday, November 24, 2018 6:08:37 PM 
	Ms. Ross, I'm very sorry for not having gotten back to you sooner. We did not read the complaint as having 
	been made against Ms. Hobbs personally, but to the extent it is, the response is for Ms. Hobbs individually as well. Thank you, Daniel 
	Daniel A. Arellano 



	Ballard Spaly
	Ballard Spaly
	-

	1 East Washington Street, Suite 2300 Phoenix, AZ 85004-2555 602.798.5436 DIRECT 602.798.5595 FAX 
	arellanod@ballardspalu.com 
	arellanod@ballardspalu.com 

	w-..vw.ballardspahr.com 
	Figure
	Digitally signedby Kathryn RossDate: 2018.12.1414:58:19 -05'00'
	1090 Vermont Ave NW, Suite 750 
	Washington, DC 20005 
	 SANDLER REIFF 

	SANDLER REIFF LAMB www.sandlerreiff.com ROSENSTEIN & BIRKENSTOCK, P.C. T: 202-479-1111 F: 202-479-1115
	       December 14, 2018 
	Mr. Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Office of Complaints Examination
	     and Legal Administration Federal Election Commission 1050 First Street, N.E. Washington, D.C. 20463
	     Re: MUR 7519 
	     Re: MUR 7519 
	Dear Mr. Jordan: 

	The undersigned serves as counsel for the Arizona Democratic Party and Rick McGuire, in his official capacity as Treasurer (the “Committee”). This letter responds on behalf of the Committee to the Commission’s notification that it received a complaint (the “Complaint”) alleging that the Committees violated the Federal Election Campaign Act (the “Act”) and Federal Election Commission (the “Commission”) regulations. 
	The Complaint alleges that the Committee violated the Act and Commission regulations when it used non-federal funds to pay for a TV advertisement advocating for the election of Arizona Secretary of State candidate Katie Hobbs. The Complaint erroneously alleges that the advertisement, through a brief identification of a federal candidate, violates the Act’s “soft money” restrictions.  For the reasons stated below, based on the facts alleged and other 
	information available, the Commission should find that there is no reason to believe that the 
	Committee violated the Act or any of the Commission’s regulations. 
	I. Factual and Legal Argument 
	The Complaint alleges that an advertisement the Committee aired in October 2018 violated the Act’s and Commission regulations’ prohibition against using funds not “subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting requirements” of the Act to pay for federal election activity (“FEA”).   In making his argument, the Complainant claims the advertisement constituted FEA because it both referred to and supported or promoted a clearly identified federal candidate. That allegation is erroneous for a number of
	1

	Under the Federal Election Campaign Act, and Commission’s regulations, the mere identification of a federal candidate in a public communication that also mentions a non-federal 
	candidate is not FEA unless it also promotes, attacks, supports, or opposes (“PASO”) a federal 
	 Complaint at 2 
	1

	candidate. Specifically, a party committee must pay for a public communication that PASO’s a federal candidate exclusively with federally permissible funds, even if that communication expressly advocates the election or defeat of a non-federal candidate.
	2 

	The advertisement in question does not PASO a federal candidate. The 30-second television advertisement clearly advocates for the election of Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State of Arizona with no support or promotion of any federal candidate. The ad opens and closes with a shot of a mockup ballot which includes the names of both candidates for Secretary of State. Below the Secretary of State candidates’ names, the names of two federal candidates can be seen, either in whole or part.  The mockup ballot appea
	3
	4

	The advertisement does not PASO a federal candidate, nor was it intended to do so.  The advertisement was drafted by John Del Cecato, Creative Director of the Committee’s media firm, AKPD Message and Media.  As explained in the attached declaration, Mr. Del Cecato instructed his production team to include a sample ballot featuring the two Secretary of State candidates but did not provide any further direction as to how that ballot should look.  To be sure, neither Mr. Del Cecato, nor any other representativ
	5
	6
	7 
	8 

	Not only did the Committee not intend to PASO a federal candidate in the advertisement in question, the advertisement, in fact, did not PASO a federal candidate based on the guidance the Commission has provided both in its Advisory Opinions on this subject and through similar enforcement matters. In Advisory Opinion 2003-25, the Commission analyzed whether a federal candidate could appear in a state candidate’s television advertisement to endorse that state candidate without triggering FEA.  The Commission 
	9 

	TwoWays V008.mp4?dl=0 
	TwoWays V008.mp4?dl=0 
	https://www.dropbox.com/s/ry7lgp0zhp8gpfw/iVote 


	2 
	FECA, the mere identification of an individual who is a Federal candidate does not automatically promote, support, attack, or oppose that candidate.” The Commission reiterated its interpretation of that PASO standard in a 2007 Advisory Opinion regarding a federal candidate’s In that Opinion, the Commission noted that the advertisement “only identifie[d] [the Federal candidate] without additional comment or statement.” The Complainant uses these Opinions in an effort to support its proposition that the adver
	10
	appearance on a billboardendorsing a state candidate.
	11 
	12 

	Sinema’s opponent Martha McSally’s name.  The brief appearances of the two federal candidates’ names on a sample ballot are not tantamount to any promotion, attack, support, or opposition for either candidate. The fact that both names appear on the sample ballot, at least in part, further confirms that there was no intent to PASO either candidate. In fact, candidate Kyrsten Sinema’s name was even misspelled on the sample ballot. 
	This case should also be compared with MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana) decided by the Commission in 2013. In that case, the Commission analyzed a television advertisement paid for by a state candidate related to a gubernatorial election where the advertisement provided “a series of comparative statements and positions associated with Mourdock, a federal candidate office, and Pence, Gregg’s [state] opponent.”In its analysis, the Commission re-stated its position that “the mere identification of an individual as
	13 
	14 
	15

	The Complaint goes on to allege that, even if the advertisement does not qualify as FEA, the Committee was required to allocate the costs of the advertisement between its federal and non-federal accounts. That argument is also flawed. State party committees are only required to allocate non-FEA expenses if they are made “in connection with both Federal and non-Federal elections.”The advertisement in question was not made in connection with a Federal election 
	16 

	—
	—
	 it is a non-federal advertisement advocating for the election of a specific state candidate.  The 

	Id. See, Advisory Opinion 2007-34 (Jesse Jackson) Id. Legal Analysis and Conclusions at 3. MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana), Factual Background at 2. Id. Legal Analysis at 5. Id. at 6. 11 C.F.R. § 106.7(b). 
	10 
	11 
	12 
	13 
	14 
	15 
	16 

	3 
	brief mention of two federal candidates, by name only, is merely incidental and was only included to simulate a ballot. The advertisement was not intended to, and does not, PASO a federal candidate. It is simply not an expenditure in connection with a Federal election. Furthermore, allocation of expenses between federal and non-federal accounts is reserved for specific activities, including staffsalaries,administrative costs,fundraising, generic voter-drive activities, and exempt  The advertisement at issue
	party activities.
	17

	52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(20)(A)(iii) & 30125(b); 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.24(a)(3); 300.32. The full version of the advertisement can be viewed here: 
	52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(20)(A)(iii) & 30125(b); 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.24(a)(3); 300.32. The full version of the advertisement can be viewed here: 
	52 U.S.C. §§ 30101(20)(A)(iii) & 30125(b); 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.24(a)(3); 300.32. The full version of the advertisement can be viewed here: 
	2 
	3 



	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	The Committee notes that Senator-elect Sinema’s name is misspelled in the advertisement. See, Declaration of John Del Cecato at ¶ 1. Id. at ¶4. Id. at ¶5. Id.at ¶¶ 7, 8. Advisory Opinion 2003-25 (Weinzapfel), Legal Analysis and Conclusions, at 2. 
	4 
	5 
	6 
	7 
	8 
	9 








	II. Conclusion 
	II. Conclusion 
	For the reasons described above, the advertisement is not federal election activity because it does not promote, attack, support, or oppose a federal candidate. Accordingly, the Commission should find no reason to believe that a violation of the Act has occurred and dismiss this matter. 
	If you have any questions regarding this Response, my daytime number is (202) 4791111. My email address is . 
	-
	reiff@sandlerreiff.com
	reiff@sandlerreiff.com


	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	       Neil P. Reiff Counsel to Arizona Democratic Party Rick McGuire, Treasurer 
	Id. at §106.7 (c). 
	17 
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	8. The adve1iisement was intended to influence individuals to vote for Katie Hobbs for Secretaiy ofState and was not intended to promote or suppo1i Kyrsten Sinema. 
	I declare under penalty ofpe1jmy that the foregoing is tme and coITect. 
	Dated this 13day of December, 2018. 
	th 
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	I. 
	INTRODUCTION 

	TR
	The Complaint in this matter alleges that the Arizona Democratic Party (“ADP”) spent 

	36 
	36 
	over $1.8 million in non-federal funds on federal election activity because an advertisement for a 

	37 
	37 
	state-level candidate, Katie Hobbs, purportedly promoted and supported Kyrsten Sinema, who 

	38 
	38 
	was a candidate for U.S. Senate in 2018.  In the alternative, the Complaint argues that ADP 

	39 
	39 
	should have allocated the cost between the federal and non-federal portions of the advertisement.   


	MUR 7519 (Arizona Democratic Party, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 2 of 10 
	Respondents deny that there was any violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act, as amended (the “Act”).  They contend that while the advertisement may clearly identify a federal candidate, it does not promote, support, attack, or oppose that candidate.  They also argue that they were under no legal obligation to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  
	Considered in context, the advertisement makes no more than a passing mention of Sinema and could not reasonably be construed as promoting, attacking, supporting, or opposing her candidacy.  As a result, there was no legal obligation for ADP to allocate the cost of the advertisement. Therefore, as set forth below, we recommend that the Commission find no reason to believe that ADP violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds to promote or support Sinema, or 11 C.F.
	C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non-federal funds to promote or support Sinema. 



	II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	ADP is registered with the Commission as the official Arizona state party committee for the Democratic National Committee.  Hobbs was the Democratic nominee for Arizona Secretary of State in 2018, running against Republican Steve Gaynor.  Sinema was the Democratic nominee for U.S. Senate from Arizona in the 2018 general election.  Her opponent was Republican nominee Martha McSally. 
	1

	See FEC Form 1, ADP Amended Statement of Organization (May 20, 2019). 
	MUR 7519 (Arizona Democratic Party, et al.) 
	MUR 7519 (Arizona Democratic Party, et al.) 
	MUR 7519 (Arizona Democratic Party, et al.) 

	First General Counsel’s Report 
	First General Counsel’s Report 

	Page 3 of 10 
	Page 3 of 10 
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	1 
	The complaint alleges that beginning around October 3, 2018, ADP disbursed at least 

	2 
	2 
	$1,833,355 for a television advertisement in support of and authorized by Hobbs.  According to 

	3 
	3 
	the Complaint, these disbursements violated the Act because ADP used non-federal funds to 

	4 
	4 
	promote, attack, support, or oppose a federal candidate — specifically, the Complaint alleges 

	5 
	5 
	that the advertisement promoted and supported Sinema’s federal candidacy.2 

	6 
	6 
	ADP’s Response does not dispute the Complaint’s allegations regarding the amount spent 

	7 
	7 
	on the ad or the timing of its dissemination, but claims that the advertisement does not promote 

	8 
	8 
	or support Sinema’s candidacy.3
	  ADP’s Response also includes a declaration from an individual 

	9 
	9 
	at a political media production firm stating that he drafted the advertisement’s script and that it 

	10 
	10 
	was not intended to promote or support Sinema.4
	  The Response from Hobbs and her committee 

	11 
	11 
	likewise denies that the advertisement in any way promoted or supported Sinema, and provides a 

	12 
	12 
	link to the entire advertisement at issue.5 
	The images and dialogue from the advertisement are 

	13 
	13 
	replicated below.6 


	Figure
	Man in Voting Booth: So who can I trust for Secretary of State? 
	2 
	2 

	Compl. at 1-2 (Oct. 18, 2018). 
	3 
	3 

	Resp. of ADP at 2 (Dec. 14, 2018). 
	4 
	4 

	Resp. of ADP, Attach. ¶¶ 2-3, 8. 
	5 
	5 

	Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al., at 1-2 (Nov. 14, 2018). 
	6 
	6 

	A video file of the advertisement is also available 
	Figure
	MUR 7519 (Arizona Democratic Party, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 4 of 10 
	P
	Figure

	Man in Voting Booth: The CEO or the social worker? 
	Figure
	Female Voice-Over: In the state senate, Katie Hobbs has led the fight for better teacher pay, helping resolve the strike this year and keep Arizona from losing good teachers to neighboring states. 
	Male Voice-Over: In the corporate world, Steve Gaynor got rich by cheating his employees out of overtime pay, and his company was forced to pay tens of thousands of dollars to workers in a settlement. 
	Man in Voting Booth: So, the savvy senator or the shady CEO? 
	MUR 7519 (Arizona Democratic Party, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 5 of 10 
	Figure
	Man in Voting Booth: That’s a nobrainer. 
	-

	1 The response from ADP argues that this “30-second television advertisement clearly advocates 2 for the election of Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State of Arizona with no support or promotion of 3 any federal candidate” despite the “mockup ballot [that] appears for approximately six 4 seconds . . . and focuses on an individual choosing which bubble to fill in between two Secretary 5 of State candidates.”  The response from Hobbs and her committee argues that “at most” the 6 advertisement refers to the feder
	7
	8 

	10 Activity 11 The Act prohibits a state committee, candidate for state office, or the agent of a state 12 candidate from spending funds on public communications that refer to a clearly identified 
	13 candidate for federal office and that promote, attack, support, or oppose (“PASO”) a candidate 14 for that office, unless the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting 15 requirements of the Act.The Act and Commission regulations specify that a communication 
	9 
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	1 may PASO a candidate regardless of whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for 2 or against a candidate, but do not otherwise define the terms “promote,” “support,” “attack,” or 3 “oppose.”  The Supreme Court has stated that the use of those words in section 4 30101(20)(A)(iii) of the Act does not render the provision unconstitutionally vague, because they 5 “clearly set forth the confines within which potential party speakers must act in order to avoid 6 triggering the provision,” and they “
	10
	11
	12 

	10 Similarly, in 11 MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana), the Commission dismissed the allegation that a state 12 gubernatorial candidate used non-federal funds to pay for an advertisement that purportedly 13 opposed a federal   There, the Commission found that, although the advertisement 14 included statements made by the federal candidate, the advertisement focused on the state 15 
	endorses a state candidate — does not, by itself, PASO the federal candidate.
	13 
	candidate.
	14
	gubernatorial election and offered no commentary regarding the federal candidacy.
	15 

	individuals and corporations. See Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 16-912(B), 16-916(B).  Thus, funds raised by ADP for non-federal purposes under Arizona law may not comply with the Act’s source and amount restrictions. 
	52 U.S.C. § 30101(20)(A)(iii); 11 C.F.R. § 100.24(b)(3). 
	10 

	The Commission has twice proposed but not adopted definitions for PASO. See Prohibited and Excessive Contributions, 67 Fed. Reg. 35,654, 35,681 (May 20, 2002) (Notice of Proposed Rulemaking); Coordination, 74 Fed. Reg. 53,893, 53,898-900 (Oct. 21, 2009) (Notice of Proposed Rulemaking). 
	11 

	McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 170 n.64 (2003). 
	12 

	See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2009-26 (Coulson) at 7 (collecting opinions); Advisory Op. 2003-25 (Weinzapfel) (determining that a communication in which a federal candidate endorsed a state candidate did not PASO that federal candidate). 
	13 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 6, MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana).  
	14 

	Id. 
	15 
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	1 By contrast, the Commission found that a communication was federal election activity 2 that did PASO a federal candidate in a matter in which a page in a local party committee’s flyer 3 said “How Do I Vote a Straight Democratic Ticket?” accompanied by President Obama’s 4 campaign logo, as well as a page that concluded with “The Left is Right — Vote Blue” next to 5 the Obama-Biden 2012 campaign logo.In MUR 6019 (Dominic Caserta for Assembly), the 6 Commission found that a local candidate’s statement that “
	16 
	candidates.
	17 

	10 with mere identification of a federal candidate by noting that those opinions “did not address the 11 specific reference to the federal candidacy (‘for President’) and the statement of support that we 12 have in this case.”13 Here, the Complaint argues that the text “For U.S. Senate Vote for ONE” followed by 14 Sinema’s name “likely constitutes express advocacy of her candidacy” or at the very least 15 promotes or supports her candidacy because it evokes Sinema in her capacity as a federal 16 candidate a
	18 
	 for her election.
	19 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 7-10, MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party) (ultimately finding no reason to believe the committee violated the Act because its disbursements for the federal election activity appeared to have been made with funds subject to the limitations and prohibitions of the Act). 
	16 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 4, MUR 6019 (Dominic Caserta for Assembly). 
	17 

	Id. at 4-5 (citing Advisory Op. 2007-34 (Jackson, Jr.), 2007-21 (Holt), and 2003-25 (Weinzapfel)). 
	18 

	Compl. at 2-3 (“Sinema is invoked not as an endorser or supporter of Hobbs, but rather appears as a federal candidate qua federal candidate.”). 
	19 
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	1 advertisement, it is not clear whether the depicted voter intends to vote for Sinema or McSally, 2 or even vote in the federal race at all.  Nor does the communication include an image of 3 4 Instead, the focus of the advertisement is on Hobbs, whose party affiliation is never mentioned, 5 and her opponent in the Secretary of State race.  No one in the advertisement utters Sinema’s 6 name.Thus, although the advertisement identifies Sinema in her capacity as a federal 7 candidate, the Complaint’s argument 
	Sinema’s campaign materials or a statement of support for the Democratic Party generally.
	20 
	21 

	10 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds for 11 federal election activity, and no reason to believe that Katie Hobbs and Elect Katie Hobbs for 12 Secretary of State violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non13 federal funds in that manner. 14 B. ADP Was Not Required to Allocate Expenses for the Advertisement 15 The Complaint also argues that even if the advertisement does not PASO Sinema, ADP 16   Under 17 Commission regulations, 
	-
	was nonetheless required to allocate a portion of the cost to its federal account.
	22
	-

	Compare Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 6683. The mockup ballot in the advertisement misspells Sinema’s first name as “Krysten” rather than Kyrsten. Compl. at 4. 
	20 
	21 
	22 
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	1 Federal accounts.”However, the Commission’s regulations on allocation are clear that only 2 certain expenses may be allocated: administrative expenses, exempt party activities that are not 3 federal election activities, fundraising expenses, and voter drive activities that are neither federal 4 5 The Complaint does not allege any such allocable activities.  Rather, it alleges that ADP 6 made, and Hobbs and her committee approved, a public communication that clearly identified 7 and supported a federal can
	23 
	election activities nor party exempt activities.
	24 
	25 

	10 As discussed above, however, the advertisement does not appear to constitute federal 11 election activity.  The Complaint has not otherwise alleged facts demonstrating that ADP made 12 any expenditures or disbursements in connection with a federal election that would need to be 13 allocated, and Commission regulations explicitly permit state parties to use non-federal funds for 14 Therefore, we recommend that the Commission find no reason to believe 15 that ADP violated 11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to al
	non-Federal activity.
	26 

	17 
	17 
	17 
	1. Find no reason to believe that Arizona Democratic Party and Rick McGuire, in his 18 official capacity as treasurer, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. 19 § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds to promote or support a federal candidate; 

	20 
	20 
	2. Find no reason to believe that Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State and Martin 21 Quezada, in his official capacity as treasurer, and Katie Hobbs violated 52 U.S.C. 


	11 C.F.R. § 106.7(b). See id.; Campaign Guide for Political Party Committees at 101-02 (Aug. 2013). See 11 C.F.R. § 300.33(c). See id. § 300.32(d). 
	23 
	24 
	25 
	26 
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	1 § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by using non-federal funds to promote or support 2 a federal candidate; 
	3 
	3 
	3 
	3. Find no reason to believe that Arizona Democratic Party and Rick McGuire, in his 4 official capacity as treasurer, violated 11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the 5 costs of the advertisement between federal and non-federal accounts; 

	6 
	6 
	4. Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analysis; 

	7 
	7 
	5. Approve the appropriate letters; and 

	8 
	8 
	6. Close the file. 


	9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 
	___________ ________________________ Date Charles Kitcher Acting Associate General Counsel    for Enforcement ________________________ Jin Lee Acting Assistant General Counsel    for Enforcement _________________________ Amanda Andrade 
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	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Laura E. Sinram, Acting Secretary and Clerk of the Federal Election 
	Commission, do hereby certify that on June 10, 2021, the Commission decided 
	by a vote of 6-0 to take the following actions in MUR 7519: 
	1.
	1.
	1.
	 Find no reason to believe that Arizona Democratic Party and Rick     McGuire, in his official capacity as treasurer, violated 52 U.S.C.      § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds     to promote or support a federal candidate. 

	2.
	2.
	 Find no reason to believe that Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State     and Martin Quezada, in his official capacity as treasurer, and Katie    Hobbs violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by      using non-federal funds to promote or support a federal candidate. 

	3.
	3.
	 Find no reason to believe that Arizona Democratic Party and Rick      McGuire, in his official capacity as treasurer, violated 11 C.F.R.      § 106.7 by failing to allocate the costs of the advertisement between     federal and non-federal accounts. 

	4.
	4.
	 Approve the Factual and Legal Analysis, as recommended in the First    General Counsel’s Report dated October 9, 2019, subject to the edits circulated by Commissioner Trainor’s Office on behalf of the Republican Commissioners on May 13, 2021 at 9:16 a.m. and the additional edits circulated on behalf of the Democratic Commissioners on June 3, 2021 at 


	5:31 p.m. 
	Federal Election Commission MUR 7519 June 10, 2021 
	5.
	5.
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	 Approve the appropriate letters. 
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	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

	Anthony Kern 
	Glendale, AZ 85304 RE: MUR 7519 Arizona Democratic Party, et al. Dear Mr. Kern: 
	On June 10, 2021, the Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations in your complaint dated October 18, 2018, and found that on the basis of the information provided in your complaint and information provided by the Respondents, there is no reason to believe that the Arizona Democratic Party and Rick McGuire in his official capacity, Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State and Martin Quezada in his official capacity as treasurer, and Katie Hobbs violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125 or 11 C.F.R. §§ 106.7, 300.
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. The Factual and Legal Analysis, which more fully explains the Commission’s findings is enclosed.  
	The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8).  
	Sincerely, 
	Lisa J. Stevenson 
	General Counsel BY: Jin Lee 
	Acting Assistant General Counsel Enclosure Factual and Legal Analysis 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 

	2 
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	3 
	3 
	FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

	4 
	4 

	5 
	5 

	6 
	6 

	7 
	7 
	RESPONDENTS:
	    Arizona Democratic Party and  
	MUR 7519 

	8 
	8 
	Rick McGuire in his 

	9 
	9 
	official capacity as treasurer, 

	10 
	10 
	Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary 

	11 
	11 
	of State and Martin Quezada 

	12 
	12 
	in his official capacity 

	13 
	13 
	as treasurer, and 

	14 
	14 
	Katie Hobbs 

	15 
	15 

	16 
	16 

	17 
	17 
	I. 
	INTRODUCTION 

	18 
	18 
	The Complaint in this matter alleges that the Arizona Democratic Party (“ADP”) spent 

	19 
	19 
	over $1.8 million in non-federal funds on federal election activity because an advertisement for a 

	20 
	20 
	state-level candidate, Katie Hobbs, purportedly promoted and supported Kyrsten Sinema, who 

	21 
	21 
	was a candidate for U.S. Senate in 2018.  In the alternative, the Complaint argues that ADP 

	22 
	22 
	should have allocated the cost between the federal and non-federal portions of the advertisement.   

	23 
	23 
	Respondents deny that there was any violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act, as 

	24 
	24 
	amended (the “Act”).  They contend that while the advertisement may clearly identify a federal 

	25 
	25 
	candidate, it does not promote, support, attack, or oppose that candidate.  They also argue that 

	26 
	26 
	they were under no legal obligation to allocate the cost of the advertisement. 

	27 
	27 
	The advertisement makes no more than a passing mention of Sinema and could not 

	28 
	28 
	reasonably be construed as promoting, attacking, supporting, or opposing her candidacy.  As a 

	29 
	29 
	result, there was no legal obligation for ADP to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  

	30 
	30 
	Therefore, as set forth below, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 52 

	31 
	31 
	U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds to promote or 

	32 
	32 
	support Sinema, or 11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  The 
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	1 Commission also finds no reason to believe that, by authorizing ADP’s advertisement on her 2 behalf, Katie Hobbs or her authorized committee, Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State, 3 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non-federal funds to 4 promote or support Sinema. 5 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
	6 ADP is registered with the Commission as the official Arizona state party committee for 7 the Democratic National Committee.Hobbs was the Democratic nominee for Arizona 8 Secretary of State in 2018, running against Republican Steve Gaynor.  Sinema was the 9 Democratic nominee for U.S. Senate from Arizona in the 2018 general election.  Her opponent 
	1 

	10 was Republican nominee Martha McSally. 11 The complaint alleges that beginning around October 3, 2018, ADP disbursed at least 12 $1,833,355 for a television advertisement in support of and authorized by Hobbs.  According to 13 the Complaint, these disbursements violated the Act because ADP used non-federal funds to 14 promote, attack, support, or oppose a federal candidate — specifically, the Complaint alleges 15 that the advertisement promoted and supported Sinema’s federal candidacy.16 ADP’s Response d
	2 
	3 
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	1 
	1 
	was not intended to promote or support Sinema.4 The Response from Hobbs and her committee 

	2 
	2 
	likewise denies that the advertisement in any way promoted or supported Sinema, and provides a 

	3 
	3 
	link to the entire advertisement at issue.5  The images and dialogue from the advertisement are 

	4 
	4 
	replicated below. 


	Figure
	Man in Voting Booth:  So who can I trust for Secretary of State? [3 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth: The CEO or the social worker? [3 seconds] 
	P
	Figure

	Figure
	Female Voice-Over: In the state senate, Katie Hobbs has led the fight for better teacher pay, helping resolve the strike this year and keep Arizona from losing good teachers to neighboring states. [8 seconds] 
	Resp. of ADP, Attach. ¶¶ 2-3, 8. Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al., at 1-2 (Nov. 14, 2018). 
	Resp. of ADP, Attach. ¶¶ 2-3, 8. Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al., at 1-2 (Nov. 14, 2018). 
	Resp. of ADP, Attach. ¶¶ 2-3, 8. Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al., at 1-2 (Nov. 14, 2018). 
	4 
	5 
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	Figure
	Male Voice-Over:  In the corporate world, Steve Gaynor got rich by cheating his employees out of overtime pay, and his company was forced to pay tens of thousands of dollars to workers in a settlement. [10 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth:  So, the savvy senator or the shady CEO? [3 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth: That’s a nobrainer. [3 seconds] 
	-

	1 
	1 
	1 
	The response from ADP argues that this “30-second television advertisement clearly advocates 

	2 
	2 
	for the election of Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State of Arizona with no support or promotion of 

	3 
	3 
	any federal candidate” despite the “mockup ballot [that] appears for approximately six 

	4 
	4 
	seconds . . . and focuses on an individual choosing which bubble to fill in between two Secretary 

	5 
	5 
	of State candidates.”6 
	The response from Hobbs and her committee argues that “at most” the 

	TR
	6 
	Resp. of ADP at 2. 
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	1 advertisement refers to the federal candidates for U.S. Senate but “does nothing to promote, 2 support, attack, or oppose either federal candidate.”3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 A. ADP’s Advertisement Does Not Appear to Constitute Federal Election 
	7 

	5 Activity 6 The Act prohibits a state committee, candidate for state office, or the agent of a state 7 candidate from spending funds on public communications that refer to a clearly identified 8 candidate for federal office and that promote, attack, support, or oppose (“PASO”) a candidate 9 for that office, unless the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting 
	10 requirements of the Act.The Act and Commission regulations specify that a communication 11 may PASO a candidate regardless of whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for 12 or against a candidate, but do not otherwise define the terms “promote,” “support,” “attack,” or 
	8 
	9

	13 “oppose.”  The Supreme Court has stated that the use of those words in section 30101(20)(A)(iii) 14 of the Act does not render the provision unconstitutionally vague, because they “clearly set forth 15 the confines within which potential party speakers must act in order to avoid triggering the 16 provision,” and they “provide explicit standards for those who apply them and give the person of 17 ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited.”18 The Commission has made clear on 
	10 
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	1 Similarly, in 2 MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana), the Commission dismissed the allegation that a state 3 gubernatorial candidate used non-federal funds to pay for an advertisement that purportedly 4   There, the Commission found that, although the advertisement 5 included statements made by the federal candidate, the advertisement focused on the state 6 7 By contrast, the Commission found that a communication was federal election activity 8 that did PASO a federal candidate in a matter in which a page in a lo
	endorses a state candidate — does not, by itself, PASO the federal candidate.
	11 
	opposed a federal candidate.
	12
	gubernatorial election and offered no commentary regarding the federal candidacy.
	13 

	10 campaign logo, as well as a page that concluded with “The Left is Right — Vote Blue” next to 11 the Obama-Biden 2012 campaign logo.  In MUR 6019 (Dominic Caserta for Assembly), the 12 Commission found that a local candidate’s statement that “we have two outstanding Democratic 13 candidates running for President,” along with references to “Barack Obama for President” and 14 “Hillary Clinton for President” arguably promoted Obama and Clinton as presidential 15   The Commission distinguished that case from 
	14
	candidates.
	15

	See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2009-26 (Coulson) at 7 (collecting opinions); Advisory Op. 2003-25 (Weinzapfel) (determining that a communication in which a federal candidate endorsed a state candidate did not PASO that federal candidate). 
	11 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 6, MUR 6684 (Gregg for Indiana). 
	12 

	Id. 
	13 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 7-10, MUR 6683 (Fort Bend County Democratic Party) (ultimately finding no reason to believe the committee violated the Act because its disbursements for the federal election activity appeared to have been made with funds subject to the limitations and prohibitions of the Act). 
	14 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 4, MUR 6019 (Dominic Caserta for Assembly). 
	15 
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	1 specific reference to the federal candidacy (‘for President’) and the statement of support that we 2 have in this case.”3 Here, the Complaint argues that the text “For U.S. Senate Vote for ONE” followed by 4 Sinema’s name “likely constitutes express advocacy of her candidacy” or at the very least 5 promotes or supports her candidacy because it evokes Sinema in her capacity as a federal 6   Although the advertisement references Sinema as a 7 candidate, it does not contain the “statement of support” the Com
	16 
	candidate and advocates for her election.
	17

	10 or even vote in the federal race at all. Nor does the communication include an image of 11 12 Instead, the focus of the advertisement is on Hobbs, whose party affiliation is never mentioned, 13 and her opponent in the Secretary of State race. No one in the advertisement utters Sinema’s 14 name.Although the advertisement identifies Sinema in her capacity as a federal candidate, a 15 viewer may not have even noticed Sinema’s name due to its lack of prominence on the screen, its 16 slightly blurred nature, 
	Sinema’s campaign materials or a statement of support for the Democratic Party generally.
	18 
	19 

	Id. at 4-5 (citing Advisory Op. 2007-34 (Jackson, Jr.), 2007-21 (Holt), and 2003-25 (Weinzapfel)). 
	16 

	Compl. at 2-3 (“Sinema is invoked not as an endorser or supporter of Hobbs, but rather appears as a federal candidate qua federal candidate.”). Compare Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 6683. The mockup ballot in the advertisement misspells Sinema’s first name as “Krysten” rather than Kyrsten. 
	17 
	18 
	19 

	MUR 7519 Arizona Democratic Party, et al. Factual and Legal Analysis 
	1 activity, and no reason to believe that Katie Hobbs and Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State 2 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non-federal funds in that 3 manner. 4 B. ADP Was Not Required to Allocate Expenses for the Advertisement 5 The Complaint also argues that even if the advertisement does not PASO Sinema, ADP 6   Under 7 Commission regulations, state parties such as ADP “that make expenditures and disbursements 8 in connection with both Federal and non-Federal 
	was nonetheless required to allocate a portion of the cost to its federal account.
	20

	10 or they may allocate such expenditures and disbursements between their Federal and their non11 Federal accounts.”  However, the Commission’s regulations on allocation are clear that only 12 certain expenses may be allocated:  administrative expenses, exempt party activities that are not 13 federal election activities, fundraising expenses, and voter drive activities that are neither federal 14 15 The Complaint does not allege any such allocable activities. Rather, it alleges that ADP 16 made, and Hobbs a
	-
	21
	election activities nor party exempt activities.
	22 
	23 

	Compl. at 4. 11 C.F.R. § 106.7(b). See id. See 11 C.F.R. § 300.33(c). 
	20 
	21 
	22 
	23 

	MUR 7519 Arizona Democratic Party, et al. Factual and Legal Analysis 
	MUR 7519 Arizona Democratic Party, et al. Factual and Legal Analysis 
	MUR 7519 Arizona Democratic Party, et al. Factual and Legal Analysis 

	1 
	1 
	As discussed above, however, the advertisement does not constitute federal election 

	2 
	2 
	activity.  The Complaint has not otherwise alleged facts demonstrating that ADP made any 

	3 
	3 
	expenditures or disbursements in connection with a federal election that would need to be 

	4 
	4 
	allocated, and Commission regulations explicitly permit state parties to use non-federal funds for 

	5 
	5 
	non-Federal activity.24  Therefore, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 

	6 
	6 
	11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  


	See id. § 300.32(d). 
	See FEC Form 1, ADP Amended Statement of Organization (May 20, 2019). Compl. at 1-2 (Oct. 18, 2018). Resp. of ADP at 2 (Dec. 14, 2018). 
	See FEC Form 1, ADP Amended Statement of Organization (May 20, 2019). Compl. at 1-2 (Oct. 18, 2018). Resp. of ADP at 2 (Dec. 14, 2018). 
	See FEC Form 1, ADP Amended Statement of Organization (May 20, 2019). Compl. at 1-2 (Oct. 18, 2018). Resp. of ADP at 2 (Dec. 14, 2018). 
	See FEC Form 1, ADP Amended Statement of Organization (May 20, 2019). Compl. at 1-2 (Oct. 18, 2018). Resp. of ADP at 2 (Dec. 14, 2018). 
	1 
	2 
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	Resp. of Katie Hobbs, et al. at 2. 52 U.S.C. § 30125(b), (f), cross-referencing id. § 30101(20)(A)(iii) (including PASO communications in 
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	The Complaint in this matter alleges that the Arizona Democratic Party (“ADP”) spent 
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	over $1.8 million in non-federal funds on federal election activity because an advertisement for a 

	20 
	20 
	state-level candidate, Katie Hobbs, purportedly promoted and supported Kyrsten Sinema, who 

	21 
	21 
	was a candidate for U.S. Senate in 2018.  In the alternative, the Complaint argues that ADP 

	22 
	22 
	should have allocated the cost between the federal and non-federal portions of the advertisement.   

	23 
	23 
	Respondents deny that there was any violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act, as 

	24 
	24 
	amended (the “Act”).  They contend that while the advertisement may clearly identify a federal 

	25 
	25 
	candidate, it does not promote, support, attack, or oppose that candidate.  They also argue that 

	26 
	26 
	they were under no legal obligation to allocate the cost of the advertisement. 

	27 
	27 
	The advertisement makes no more than a passing mention of Sinema and could not 

	28 
	28 
	reasonably be construed as promoting, attacking, supporting, or opposing her candidacy.  As a 

	29 
	29 
	result, there was no legal obligation for ADP to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  
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	Therefore, as set forth below, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 52 

	31 
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	U.S.C. § 30125(b)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.32(a)(2) by using non-federal funds to promote or 

	32 
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	support Sinema, or 11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  The 
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	was not intended to promote or support Sinema.4 The Response from Hobbs and her committee 

	2 
	2 
	likewise denies that the advertisement in any way promoted or supported Sinema, and provides a 

	3 
	3 
	link to the entire advertisement at issue.5  The images and dialogue from the advertisement are 

	4 
	4 
	replicated below. 
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	Man in Voting Booth:  So who can I trust for Secretary of State? [3 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth: The CEO or the social worker? [3 seconds] 
	P
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	Figure
	Female Voice-Over: In the state senate, Katie Hobbs has led the fight for better teacher pay, helping resolve the strike this year and keep Arizona from losing good teachers to neighboring states. [8 seconds] 
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	Male Voice-Over:  In the corporate world, Steve Gaynor got rich by cheating his employees out of overtime pay, and his company was forced to pay tens of thousands of dollars to workers in a settlement. [10 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth:  So, the savvy senator or the shady CEO? [3 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth: That’s a nobrainer. [3 seconds] 
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	The response from ADP argues that this “30-second television advertisement clearly advocates 

	2 
	2 
	for the election of Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State of Arizona with no support or promotion of 

	3 
	3 
	any federal candidate” despite the “mockup ballot [that] appears for approximately six 
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	4 
	seconds . . . and focuses on an individual choosing which bubble to fill in between two Secretary 

	5 
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	of State candidates.”6 
	The response from Hobbs and her committee argues that “at most” the 
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	1 advertisement refers to the federal candidates for U.S. Senate but “does nothing to promote, 2 support, attack, or oppose either federal candidate.”3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 A. ADP’s Advertisement Does Not Appear to Constitute Federal Election 
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	5 Activity 6 The Act prohibits a state committee, candidate for state office, or the agent of a state 7 candidate from spending funds on public communications that refer to a clearly identified 8 candidate for federal office and that promote, attack, support, or oppose (“PASO”) a candidate 9 for that office, unless the funds are subject to the limitations, prohibitions, and reporting 
	10 requirements of the Act.The Act and Commission regulations specify that a communication 11 may PASO a candidate regardless of whether the communication expressly advocates a vote for 12 or against a candidate, but do not otherwise define the terms “promote,” “support,” “attack,” or 
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	13 “oppose.”  The Supreme Court has stated that the use of those words in section 30101(20)(A)(iii) 14 of the Act does not render the provision unconstitutionally vague, because they “clearly set forth 15 the confines within which potential party speakers must act in order to avoid triggering the 16 provision,” and they “provide explicit standards for those who apply them and give the person of 17 ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited.”18 The Commission has made clear on 
	10 

	MUR 7519 Arizona Democratic Party, et al. Factual and Legal Analysis 
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	As discussed above, however, the advertisement does not constitute federal election 

	2 
	2 
	activity.  The Complaint has not otherwise alleged facts demonstrating that ADP made any 

	3 
	3 
	expenditures or disbursements in connection with a federal election that would need to be 

	4 
	4 
	allocated, and Commission regulations explicitly permit state parties to use non-federal funds for 

	5 
	5 
	non-Federal activity.24  Therefore, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 

	6 
	6 
	11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  
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	was not intended to promote or support Sinema.4 The Response from Hobbs and her committee 
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	likewise denies that the advertisement in any way promoted or supported Sinema, and provides a 
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	link to the entire advertisement at issue.5  The images and dialogue from the advertisement are 
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	replicated below. 
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	Man in Voting Booth:  So who can I trust for Secretary of State? [3 seconds] 
	Man in Voting Booth: The CEO or the social worker? [3 seconds] 
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	Female Voice-Over: In the state senate, Katie Hobbs has led the fight for better teacher pay, helping resolve the strike this year and keep Arizona from losing good teachers to neighboring states. [8 seconds] 
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	1 activity, and no reason to believe that Katie Hobbs and Elect Katie Hobbs for Secretary of State 2 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(f)(1) or 11 C.F.R. § 300.71 by spending non-federal funds in that 3 manner. 4 B. ADP Was Not Required to Allocate Expenses for the Advertisement 5 The Complaint also argues that even if the advertisement does not PASO Sinema, ADP 6   Under 7 Commission regulations, state parties such as ADP “that make expenditures and disbursements 8 in connection with both Federal and non-Federal 
	was nonetheless required to allocate a portion of the cost to its federal account.
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	10 or they may allocate such expenditures and disbursements between their Federal and their non11 Federal accounts.”  However, the Commission’s regulations on allocation are clear that only 12 certain expenses may be allocated:  administrative expenses, exempt party activities that are not 13 federal election activities, fundraising expenses, and voter drive activities that are neither federal 14 15 The Complaint does not allege any such allocable activities. Rather, it alleges that ADP 16 made, and Hobbs a
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	1 
	As discussed above, however, the advertisement does not constitute federal election 

	2 
	2 
	activity.  The Complaint has not otherwise alleged facts demonstrating that ADP made any 

	3 
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	expenditures or disbursements in connection with a federal election that would need to be 

	4 
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	allocated, and Commission regulations explicitly permit state parties to use non-federal funds for 

	5 
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	non-Federal activity.24  Therefore, the Commission finds no reason to believe that ADP violated 

	6 
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	11 C.F.R. § 106.7 by failing to allocate the cost of the advertisement.  
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